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LEBANON: The first Century

The community known as ”’Apple Valley” is just a baby
as towns go. It officially became the Village of Apple
Valley, Jan. 1, 1969, and most of Apple Valley as it is
seen today, did not exist before the 1960s.

But the city is not redlly as young as it seems. lts
youthfulness, in fact, rests only in its new look and new
name, Apple Valley has o century-long heritage as the
farming commumity of Lebanon Township.

The first settlers reportedly came to Lebanon fram the
east coast in 1855. Among the earliest were Henry J.
and Charles Verrill, who, according to an early history
of the county written in 1881, came from Lebanon, N.H.

The two Verrills and their wives arrived with a party of
New Englanders in 1855. Each took a claim of 160 acres.
Henry Verrill settled near the northwest quadrant of what
is now Pilot Knob Road and County Road 42. He built
a log shanty 12 feet by 14 feet and lived there until
1857, where he built the first fame house in Lebanon.

Charles Verrill made his claim in the timber west of
what is now Johnny Cake Ridge Road around the present
132nd Street. He also built a log house and later a con-
crete house, where he lived until his death.

Other earlier settlers included James Ryan, who came
to Eagan in 1853 or ‘534 and moved on to Lebanon in
1855. R. Farquhar came to Lebanon in the fall of 1855
and tock a claim just north of Charles Verrill. When he
went to 5t. Paul to find work for the winter, a group of
10 or 12 persons came and tried to “jump” Farquhar's
claim, but Ryan and others drove them off.

John Farquhar arrived in 1856 and made his claim on
the northwest shore of what is now Farquar Lake (the
City of Apple Valley dropped the “h" in recent years).

5 By

THE THOMAS SCOTT residence, pictured durin

g the late 1860s, was torn down in 1939 and replaced

Other new arrivals in 1856 were B. Verill and George
Verrill, who later returned to Massachusetts, and Thomas
Scott, who came from northern lreland and made a
claim near what is now County Road 42 and Galaxie
Avenue. His grandson, Frank Scott, owned the homesite
until his death in late 1977.

As more and more people moved into the community,
the time came for Dokota County to organize it as a
town. However, for some reason that remains a mystery,
Lebanon was very briefly part of a slightly larger town
called Union. )

According to an early history of Dakota County, the
county board of commissioners met at Hastings April 6,
1858 and created Union Township. The board met again
April 26, changed the boundaries of Union and created
Lebanon Township out of most of it. ]

The citizens of the new.town met May 11, 1858, at
the home of William L. Hardick, who lived near what is
now Westview Elementary School, for their first town
meeting. Elections were held and B. Verrill (whose first
name may have been Bainbridge) was named chairman;
B. M. James and C. R. Clough, supervisors; F. C. Car-
penter, clerk; Charles Verrill, treasurer; Henry Verrill,
assessor and William Hardick and A. ). Elliott, con-
stables. ]

Until its incorporation as a village almost 101 years
later, Lebanon, like other townships, was governed by a
board of three supervisors and had o town meeting each
spring. At the town meeting in 1863, those attending
voted to raise $50 in real and personal property taxes
(bosed on acreage) to "meet the expenses of the en-
suing year.”

#E i e

by a new

structure that now stands on County Rd. 42 between Cedar and Galaxie. Family members are, left to right,
Thomas and Mary Scott; their daughter, Mary; their son; James; and on the porch, Ellen, Lioyd and David Scott.
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Minutes of the town meeting of April 5, 1864, give the
first indication of the citizens of Lebanon deciding it
was time for a few special rules. An ordinance was
passed stating that all cattle, horses, mules, asses,
sheep, goats and hogs would be prohibited from running
at large between sundown and sunrise from April 1 to
Dec. 1, and that sheep would be prohibited from running
at-large at any time during the year. The owners of any
animals found loose were to be fined 25 cents a head.

Between annual town meetings, the supervisors took
care of such things as assessing taxes and building town-
ship roads. For the roads, men were taxed two days
labor and each property owner was taxed anywhere
from 20 cents to 40 cents on each $100 worth of redl
estate or personal property. 7

Lebanon called a special town meeting Aug. 13, 1864,
to decide whether the town was willing to be taxed to
raise money to pay a bounty to Civil War volunteers
"for its quota under the last call of the President.”” The
meeting was declared illegal because it was called for
4 p.m., so it was rescheduled for ¢ am. Aug. 27. The
town voted in favor of $600 in bonds to be paid by
property taxes. ) )

At a similar special meeting Jan. 7, 1865, the town
_ voted another $900 in bonds. A total of 7% men from
Lebanon served in the Civil War. )

Residents of the town founded Lebanon Cemetery and
the Lebanon Cemetery Association in 1862. Located at
Filot Knob Road and County Road 42, the cemetery con-
tains the graves of many early settlers and their families
and is still active today.

Around the beginning of the twentieth century the
Germans came into. the northeast corner of Lebanon.
This was the part of the township that had not been
settled earlier because it was so difficult to clear of
trees, The 1896 plat of Lebanon showed that the Moellers,
Zechmeisters, Bergs, Stelters, Hendrichs, Hagemeisters,
Polenskas, Grubers, and Bruggers all owned land in the
northern part of the town.

There are only five families who were here early in the
twentieth century whose decendants still live in Apple
Valley. "Marlene Romain is a descendent of R

% @'ﬂz’j‘ : x‘é.e;fs’ x

CHARLES VERRILL, one of the first settlers of
Lebanon, is buried in Lebanon Cemetery at County
Rd. 42 and Pilot Knob Rd. His stone has fallen
to the ground and is nearly covered by weeds.

THREE' GENERATIONS of the George Linkert
family of Lebanon in front of their log house
shortly gfter the turn of the century, Behind them
is the summer kitchen. All cooking was done out-
gide during the warm months, :

William Lee Scétt, a great grandsen of Thomas Scett;
Jehn Delaney descends from Steve Delangy, his great
grandfather, who in 1896 owned 800 acres of land in
Lehanon. Another large landowner at that time was
Michael Farrell who owned 1,000 acres mostly in the
south half of the town. Several families live in Apple
Valley whose ancestor was George Linkert who came
to Lebanon in 1902, They are Reinhart Linkert, Robert
Linkert and Esther Dahlberg. Lois Puckett is a grand-
daughter of H. Hagemeister who lived here in 1898.

During the 1800s the indians came through Lebanon
on their way to Fort Snelling to get their rations. They
camped in the hollow next to the woods where 13%th
Street and Cedar are now. They were often hungry and
Mrs. Will Scott used to stir up the milk, which had been
put in shallow pans so the cream could be skimmed off,
and give it to them. If there was cornbread she gave them
some of it too. The Indians never hurt anyone even when
they found women and children alone.

Will Scott, a son of Thomas Scott, was a blacksmith
and got his supplies in 5t. Paul. There was no bridge
across the Minnesota River at Mendota so he went across
by ferry. In the winter it was a long cold journey by bob-
sleigh. He had a thick slab of slate wrapped in paper
under the covers on top of a thick layer of straw to keep
his feet warm.

Steve Delaney remembered his father hauling grain to
St. Paul by way of the High Bridge. The trip took all day
starting at 6 a.m. On Saturdays his mother tooks eggs
and home churned butter to sell.

The Delaney homestead was on-the Rosemount Road,
150th Street, on both sides of Johnny Cake Ridge Road.
Much of the farm has since been sold to North Star
Concrete, but Delaney’s son still lives in the farmstead
at 42 and Johnny Cake and farms some of the land with
the help of his sons.

All roads were dirt and gravel through about the first
half of the 1900s. Cedar Avenue was not built north of
County Road 42 until about 1920, when a better route to
Minneapolis was needed. Galaxie Avenue, which started
out as a path from the Scott farm to their hired man’s
home, was Cld Cedar.




There were no churches or stores in Lebanon until
recent years. The first church services were held in pri-
vate homes and later residents worshipped in neighbor-
ing communities. An Episcopalian pastor had services
at the Scott home, and a Catholic priest came by on
horseback every two weeks to say Mass in the log house
on the Delaney farm.

Around the turn of the century, farming was still being
done by horses. At least one family in Lebanon was using
a team of oxen as late as 1918. “Horses were the only
power we had’in 1900 and a long time after,” said Frank
Scott. Typical machinery was the plow and the binder
which tied grain with twine, and has since been replaced
by the combine. Horses and buggies were the only way
to get any place unless you walked.

For about a:century, Lebanon changed very little. In
1881, the town's population was 252. The 19210 census
recorded 292 persons and the population was 361 in
1920 and 380 persans in 1930. By 1960, the town had
grown to 585 residents. With the 60s however, came de-
velopment. Apple Valley’s population was 8,502 in 1970
and a special census in October, 1975 recorded more
than 15,000 residents.

Some industrial development came to Lebanon ghead
of - the residential or commercial. The old Southport
Airport started in the late 1930s and in its heyday housed
about 100 planes. It closed down in 1974, The town
‘had small gravel operations for years. Fischers started
in the late 1950s. The first pipeline went through in the
'40s and -the first tanks at what is now Williams Brothers
Pipeline were built in the ‘50s.

The first residential development of Lebanon began in
Palomino Hills on what was Eaton’s Ranch and in the
Farquar Lake area. In 1963 Apple Valley started north
of .150th Street on the Herman Strese farm. Growth was
very rapid after that.

-- Agnes Scott

Change, Growth:

In the spring of 1955, exactly a century after the found-
ing of Lebanon Township, a new kind of community be-
gan to be born. Residential neighborhoods began to
spring into being in place of rural fields.

The Knottywoods plat, was started in May, 1955, It
_ woas followed by the White Oak Ridge addition in 1957,
development on Farquar Lake in 1959 and the first
Palomino Hills plat in 1958. '

But it was in 1963 that Orrin Thompson’s Apple Valley
development started the housing boom that ‘destined
Lebanon to become one of the fastest-growing com-
munities in the Metropolitan area.

Thompson used the name “Apple Valley” for his plats
on either side of County Rd. 42 on the southwest side
of the city. He selected it because he knew of Apple
Valley, Calif., and because the community is part of the
Minnesota River Valley. Thompson had an apple tree
planted at each home in his new development, The
township itself, however, was still called Lebanon.

The new Apple Valley development, made up mainly
of young families, had an average age of 27 and soon
began to assert itself in the politics of the township. In
1965, a resident of the Apple Valley development, Ar-
" leigh Thorberg, was elected to the town board. The other

Town board representatives

B. Verrill 1858-59

B. M. James 1858-1860

C. R. Clough 1858

J. Farquhar 1859-1863

}. F. Converse 1859-18463

Thos. Stevenson 1860

F. C. Carpenter ck 1858,
1859 s 1862-1866

Daniel Haines 1861

Jas. Thompson ck 1860,
1861, 18655 1864

A. R. Lester 186]

James Elliott ck 1862

John Gilman ck 1863-1844
s 1867, 1868, 1871,
18756-1882

H. Potter 1864

L. Nason 1865-1866

Wm. Poole 1865-1866

C. Sullivan ck 1866

Michael Farrell, Jr. ck 1878-
1905 s 1867-1871, 1873-
1876

Patrick Finerty 1867, 1870

M. H. Sullivan ck 1867-
1876, 1872-1877

. Wm. S. Parisu 18468

E. W. Gelton 1869-1870

Thomas Hagan 1871

Elijah Lambert ck 1871

James Scott 1872, 1877,
1883-1896, 1902-1916

Albert Nason 1872

A, B.lves 1872

John Butler 1873-1875

James Kennedy 1874-1875

John Kelly 1876, 1878-
1880

Hugh Connoley 1877-1881

Michael Mallery 1881-1883

Michael Hogah 1882-1890

Daniel Delaney 1821-1905

Edward Dunn 1897-1912

Wm. J. Hogan 1906-1913

A. T. Farrell ck 1906-1907
s 1915-1918

Thos. Scott ck 1908-1932

J.B. Farrell 1913-1914

Albert Ratzlaff 1916-1932

Joe P. Hogan 1917-1922

Wm. Kelly 1919-1929

5. A Moeller 1923-1941

C. G. Kohls 1930-1932
1939-1952

Matt. Fischer 1933-1946

Albert Berg ck 1946-1951

Simon Hogemeister 1942-
1946

Geo. E. Fischer ck 1946-
1951 :

E. A Tousignant 1947-
1959

Frank J. Scott 1947-1961

R. ). Mahowald ck 1952
5 1953-1963

Emmet Carroll ck 1953-
19615 1962-1964

R. ), Tousignant 1954-1959

Stephen Delaney 1960-
1968

Cecelia Strunk ck 1962-
1968

John D. Natwick 1964-
1968

Arleigh H. Thorberg 1965-
1968

APPLE VALLEY

two town board members at the time Thorberg was
elected were Steve Delaney, a third generation farmer
in Lebanon, and John Natwick, a Palomino Hills resident
for o few years before. Thorberg replaced Ray Mahowald
who had served 20 years.

in addition, Mrs, Cecelia Strunk served as town clerk
and performed all the duties of clerk, administratar and
general representative of the township in a fulltime
capacity. Prior to the construction of a new town hai,
many of het duties were parformed from her home on
Pilot Knob Rd. The township treasurer was Charles
Kohls, another lifetime resident who still serves the
city in the public works department. :

The township assessor was “Jake” O'Toole who
later joined the county assessor’s office. The elected
constable was Gene Corrigan.

Town board meetings were held in a cne-room former
school house located on County Rd. 42 and Pilot Knob
Rd. The building was without modern facilities and al-
though this tended to shorten the meetings, it pointed
to the need for larger and more modern quarters.

A sewage disposal plant was already under construc-
tion and g water system to serve the new areas had been
installed by developers.




The volunteer fire department was organized ond in
the spring of 1966, g bond issue in the amount of $110,-
000 was passed to purchase a new fire truck and to con-
struct a new town hall and fire station. The bond election
was contested by some residents, but due to the efforts
of many citizens, it passed. The portion of the issue that
related to the fire truck passed by a wider margin than
 the poart that concerned the construction of -the new
. building. Lebanon very nearly found itself with funds for
afire truck, but with no place to house it.

The new town hall was built within the budge'r but only
after many citizens were called upon to donate both
labor and funds to adequately furnish the building. Much
of the labor was donated by the newly- orgonlzed fire
department.

The town board members pooled their personal funds
to buy the carpeting in the council chambers. Orrin
Thompson donated paneling for the walls and Matt
Fischer supplied the original council table. An open
house was held Nov. 6, 1966.

Lebanon Township continued its rapid growth with
annual town meetings at Eaton’s Ranch and later at the
new Westview Elementary School. These meetings were
well-attended by many residents and served the purpose
of gaining input from all citizens who wished to be heard.

In 1968 Gordy Wolf was elected to serve as a township
supervisor but by this fime, Lebanon was large énough
to qualify for incorporation as a village and come under
the jurisdiction of the State Municipal Commission. The
town petitioned the commission for village status.

Township officials believed that as a village, Lebanon
would have more control over its own destiny. State law
provides more avenues of control for an incorporated
village than an unincorporated township. Also, officials
believed the community had grown large enough to need
a five-person council rather than a three-meimber town
board.

The municipal commission gave permission for in-
corporation and a two-question ballot was put to the
voters at the geneml election in November, 1968. They
were asked, should the town of Lebanon be incorporated
as a village, and if yes, should the name of the village
be Lebanon or Apple Valley?

Incorporation was approved by a vote of 1,785 to 361.
Older residents of the community strongly favored keep-
ing the name “Lebanon”, but most of those in the new
additions preferred “Apple Valley”. The vote was 1,376
in favor of the new name, and 757 wishing to retain the
old.

Shortly after the general election, a special election
was held Dec. 17, 1968, with three persons running for
mayor and 16 seeking the four council seats.

Elected as mayor was Fred Largen and the first coun-
cilmen were Mike Garrison, Will Branning, Phil Pearsall
and Bob Hallenbeck. The new council of the Village of
Apple Valley took office Jan. 1, 1949.

Later that same year, a petition was filed with the
municipal commission to form a new “city” which would
have included Rosemount, Apple Valley, Valley Park and
the northern portion of the Township of Empire into one
municipality to be named the “City of Rosemount”
This proposal met with much opposition and after several
hearings conducted by the municipal commission, a
referendum vote of the people involved caused the pro-
posal to fail. Had it succeeded, it would hove created
one of the largest suburban communities in the metro

area.

REV. FRED LARGEN takes the oath of office as
Apple Valley’s first mayor in January, 1969,

CITY CLERK Cecelia Strunk administers the oath of office to Apple Valley’s first-city councilmen, from left,
Mike Garrison, Phil Pearsall, Boh Hollenbeck and Will Branning.
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